2023



OECD SCHEME FOR THE CERTIFICATION OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL MOVING IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

OECD FOREST SEED AND PLANT SCHEME

Established by the Council Decision C(2007)69 of 20 June 2007 and subsequently amended by the Council Decisions C(2008)120, C(2008)185, C(2008)186, C(2010)111/REV1, C(2011)16, C(2011)17, C(2012)51, C(2013)30, C(2014)105, C(2023)25, TAD/CA(2015)11, TAD/CA(2016)13, TAD/CA(2017)5, C(2017)90, TAD/CA(2017)19, C(2018)52, TAD/CA(2018)8, TAD/CA(2018)14, TAD/CA(2022)4, TAD/CA(2021)4, TAD/CA(2022)4

ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT TRADE AND AGRICULTURE DIRECTORATE

FOREWORD

The OECD Scheme for the Control of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade, was initially established in 1967, and was fully revised for the first time in 1974. A second full revision was made in 2007. It became the "OECD Scheme for the Certification of the Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade", abbreviated to the "OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme".

This document contains the consolidated text of the Rules for the Scheme established by the OECD Decision of the Council [C(2007)69] of 20th June 2007. It includes all of its amendments adopted by the Council since 2007.

In 2022, the following amendments were adopted:

- Technical amendments related to clones: approval of basic material of a clone and Amendment of rule 4.2 Minimum Information in the National Register
- Technical amendments to the Rules on Mixing of Seed lot
- Non-technical amendment related to the adjustment of the basic fee of the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme

The rules of the Scheme apply to forest reproductive material of "Identified", "Selected", "Qualified" and "Tested" categories, issued from forest basic material of "Seed-source", "Stand" and "Seed Orchard", "Parents of Family/ies", "Clone" and "Clonal Mixture".

The Rules of the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme, the list of participating countries, the National Designated Authorities, the database on approved basic material as well as other information are available online at www.oecd.org/tad/forest.

To contact the OECD Secretariat:

OECD

Trade and Agriculture Directorate - Agricultural Codes and Schemes (TAD/COD)

2, rue André-Pascal

75775 Paris, Cedex 16 France

Email: csaba.gaspar@oecd.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DRAFT REVISED DECISION OF THE COUNCIL ESTABLISHING THE OECD SCHEME FOR THE CERTIFICATION OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL MOVING IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE [C(2007)69, AS AMENDED]
ANNEX TO THE COUNCIL DECISION7
INTRODUCTION
DEFINITIONS9
RULES OF THE SCHEME
GENERAL Rule 1. CATEGORIES OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL Rule 2. DELINEATION OF REGIONS OF PROVENANCE Rule 3. APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL Rule 4. REGISTRATION OF APPROVED BASIC MATERIAL Rule 5. PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL FOR ALL CATEGORIES Rule 6. INSPECTION, SEALING AND LABELLING OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL 19 Rule 7. METHOD OF OPERATION OF THE SCHEME
APPENDIX I. Minimum requirements for the approval of basic material intended for the production of reproductive material to be certified as source- identified
APPENDIX II. Minimum requirements for the approval of basic material intended for the production of reproductive material to be certified as selected
APPENDIX III. Minimum requirements for the approval of basic material intended for the production of reproductive material to be certified as <i>qualified</i>
APPENDIX IV. Minimum requirements for the approval of basic material intended for the production of reproductive material to be certified as 'tested'
APPENDIX V. Specimen certificate of provenance for reproductive material derived from seed sources or from stands
APPENDIX VI. Specimen certificate of identity for reproductive material derived from seed orchards or parents of family(ies)
APPENDIX VII. Specimen certificate of identity for reproductive material derived from clones or clonal mixtures
APPENDIX VIII. Specifications for the OECD label
APPENDIX IX. Certificate numbers for lots of certified reproductive material
APPENDIX X. Procedure for admitting non- OECD members into the OECD scheme for the certification of forest reproductive material moving in international trade
APPENDIX X.A Procedure for admitting OECD members into the OECD scheme for the certification of forest reproductive material moving in international trade
APPENDIX XI. Complementary definitions related to the OECD forest seed and plant scheme43
LIST OF NATIONAL DESIGNATED AUTHORITIES IN MEMBER COUNTRIES OF THE SCHEME

DRAFT REVISED DECISION OF THE COUNCIL ESTABLISHING THE OECD SCHEME FOR THE CERTIFICATION OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL MOVING IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE [C(2007)69, AS AMENDED]

THE COUNCIL,

HAVING REGARD to Article 5 a) and c) of the Convention on the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development of 14 December 1960;

HAVING REGARD to the Decision of the Council of 5 March 1974 Establishing an OECD Scheme for the Control of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade [C(74)29(Final)] as amended on 19 March 1991 [C(91)21/FINAL], 20 December 2001 [C(2001)268] and C/M(2001)26] and 7 February 2007 [C(2007)3 and C/M(2007)3];

On the proposal of the Committee for Agriculture:

I. DECIDES:

- 1. The OECD Scheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade (hereinafter abbreviated to the "OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme" or "the Scheme") shall be operated in accordance with the provisions of this Decision and on the basis of the Rules and Directions set out in Annex thereto.
- 2. The States which, at the adoption of the present Decision, participate in the Scheme established by the Decision of the Council of 5 March 1974 establishing an OECD Scheme for the Control of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade [C(74)29(Final)] as amended (hereafter called "former Scheme") will participate in the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme.

3. The Scheme shall be:

- (a) open to all Members of the OECD as well as to any Member of the United Nations, its Specialized Agencies or the World Trade Organisation desiring to participate therein in accordance with the procedure for participation set out in Appendix X of Annex to this Decision;
- (b) implemented by the Authorities designated for that purpose by, and responsible to, the Governments of the States adhering to the Scheme (hereinafter called the "participating States" or "participating State", as the case may be).
- 4. Any time the words "country" or "State" are used in the Decision and its Annex, it shall read as "country and economy" or "State and economy".
- 5. A State desiring to adhere to the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme shall notify the Secretary-General, who shall inform the other participating States accordingly.

- 6. The participation of a State in the Scheme obliges it (as concerns each lot of forest reproductive material labelled in the country according to the Scheme) to take the necessary measures to apply the Rules and Directions in Annex of the present Decision and to ensure their application by the Designated Authority.
- 7. The Scheme specifies minimum requirements which may be exceeded by a country based on individual circumstances. In the case of more stringent national requirements for the same category, it is recommended that OECD certified reproductive material shall meet the same requirements.
- 8. A participating State desiring to lodge a complaint concerning non-execution of the aforementioned obligations may bring the matter before the Organisation. The complaint shall be examined by the Committee for Agriculture which shall report to the Council.
- 9. The participating States may apply the Scheme to forest tree species, types of basic material and categories of their choice within the framework of the Scheme. A list of these species, types of basic material and categories must be made available to the Secretariat of the OECD.

10. **Annual contribution**

- 10.1 Expenditures required for the functioning of the Scheme shall be defrayed from appropriations under Part II of the Budget of the Organisation. Each country participating in the Scheme agrees to the payment to the OECD of an annual contribution which is the sum of the following two elements:
 - A basic fee of 1 100 € (Euros);
 - An additional fee applied to each participating country (OECD Members and non-members) calculated according to the criteria set out in the Resolution of the Council [C(2008)144/REV1] as amended.
- 10.2 The contribution is adjusted annually according to the level of expenditures required for the functioning of the Scheme and according to the change in price index and scales used in the Organisation's budget procedures. The annual contribution of a new participating country shall remain a net addition to the budget of the Scheme. The Secretariat shall report any default in payment to the National Designated Authorities which shall take all appropriate measures, including reviewing the status of the participating country.
- 10.3 A participating country shall fall into arrears on 1 January of the year following the year of the call for the payment of the annual contribution (basic fee and additional fee) if the fees remain unpaid at that date. In this first year of arrears no documentation shall be sent to the country. In the second year of arrears, the basic material existing in the country (forest stands and others) shall no longer be eligible for producing OECD certified reproductive material and the corresponding information will be removed from the OECD database. In the third year of arrears, the country shall be duly notified of a proposal to exclude it from participation in the Scheme. The decision of exclusion shall be adopted by the Council, on the proposal of the Annual Meeting of the National Designated Authorities and of the Committee for Agriculture, unless the Council decides by consensus not to adopt the decision. The decision of exclusion shall be notified to the country.
- 10.4 Settlement by the country in arrears of the debt in the first or the second year shall reverse all the measures previously taken. Settlement of the debt in the third year and reversal of all the measures previously taken shall be subject to a decision by the Annual Meeting of the National Designated Authorities based on the results of an evaluation mission at the expense of the participating country

in arrears, in accordance with the conditions for the admission procedure for a new country provided for in Annex to the Decision, Appendix V. Participants and Observers to the Scheme shall be notified of all developments associated with the implementation of this procedure.

- 10.5 The present procedure shall apply as of 1 January 2007, and apply to arrears due for 2006 and successive years. Arrears of the contributions due for one or more years before 2006 shall be subject to separate settlement with the Organisation.
- 11. Seed collected before the adoption of the present Decision can be allowed by the Designated Authority to be marketed under the former Scheme until exhaustion of the stocks previously accumulated. For plants raised from such seed, the period may be extended for five years.
- II. INSTRUCTS the Committee for Agriculture to report to the Council, when it considers it appropriate, on the operation of the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme, and to submit to the Council, where necessary, any proposal for modifying that Scheme.
- **III. AUTHORISES** the Committee for Agriculture to decide on any technical amendments to the Annex of the OECD Scheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material moving in International Trade. These amendments shall then be transmitted to the Council for information.

IV. DECIDES:

This Decision replaces the Decision of the Council C(74)29(Final) and its subsequent amendments referred to above, which are hereby repealed.

ANNEX TO THE COUNCIL DECISION

INTRODUCTION

- 1. The object of the OECD Scheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade, hereinafter called "the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme" or "the Scheme", is to encourage the production and use of seeds, parts of plants and plants that have been collected, processed and marketed in a manner that ensures their trueness to name. Forest Reproductive Material covered by the Scheme and marketed under OECD certification is primarily intended for use in forestry and agroforestry. Forestry and agroforestry have multifunctional purposes. They can produce different services (e.g. erosion control, biodiversity, water infiltration, carbon storage, etc.) and goods (e.g. wood, fruit, gum, resin, cork, etc.). The propagation material for agricultural fruit plantations is excluded from this Scheme.
- 2. Due to the length of forest cycles and to the cost of plantations and long-term forest investment, it is essential that foresters get fully reliable information on the origin and on the genetic characteristics of the Forest Reproductive Material they will use in plantation. This Scheme meets that need by means of certification and traceability.
- 3. The Scheme has a major role in helping world forests adapt to changing climatic conditions. Emphasis should be made on preserving species diversity, and ensuring high genetic diversity within species and seed lots thereby enhancing the adaptive potential of forest reproductive material for future reforestation and afforestation.
- 4. The Scheme recognizes the interest and responsible use of biotechnology to provide for forest tree improvement. The administration of this Scheme builds on the mandatory respect of National Laws and Regulations regarding biotechnology safety. Hence, it is up to the Members whether they choose to deregulate trading of biotechnology products following specific assessment or require that a biotechnology product be authorised for any intended use and identified as such. In this context, when a Member country deregulates a biotechnology product, some countries may request additional information on this biotechnology product beyond the OECD Certificate and Label at the import stage, in compliance with National Regulations.
- 5. Under the Scheme, reproductive material falls into four categories. These categories are applied to the reproductive material which is derived from approved basic material. Basic material is given approval by the Designated Authority.
- 6. There are four categories recognised in the Scheme under which reproductive material can be certified, namely:

Source-identified

_

Agricultural Fruit Plantation: Regular cultivation of fruit species whose main objective is the production of fruit by using the most suitable varieties and cultivation techniques to maximise production and to improve fruit quality.

this is the minimum standard permitted in which the location and altitude of the place(s) from which reproductive material is collected must be recorded; little or no phenotypic selection has taken place.

<u>Selected</u>

the basic material must be phenotypically selected at the population level.

Qualified

The components of the basic material have been selected at the individual level; however, evaluation may not have been undertaken or completed.

<u>Tested</u>

The superiority of the reproductive material must have been demonstrated by comparative testing or an estimate of its superiority calculated from the genetic evaluation of the components of the basic material.

7. There are six types of basic material recognised in the Scheme from which reproductive material can be collected, namely: Seed source, Stand, Seed Orchard, Parents of Family(ies), Clone and Clonal Mixture.

DEFINITIONS²

The terms used in the Scheme will be interpreted as follows:

Forest Reproductive Material

Reproductive material of genera and species of forest trees and shrubs. It includes:

> Seeds:

Cones, fruits and seeds that are intended for the production of plants.

> Parts of plants:

Stem-, leaf- and root-cuttings, buds, scions, layers, explants or embryos for micro-propagation and any parts of a plant which are intended for the production of plants.

Plants:

Plants raised by means of seeds or parts of plants; also includes plants from natural regeneration.

Basic Material

> Basic material means any of the following:

> Seed Source:

Trees within an area from which seeds are collected.

> Stand:

A delineated population of trees possessing sufficient uniformity.

-Autochthonous stand:³

An autochthonous stand is one which has been continuously regenerated by natural regeneration. The stand may be regenerated artificially from reproductive material collected in the same stand or autochthonous stands within the close proximity.

-Indigenous stand:³

An indigenous stand is an autochthonous stand or is a stand raised artificially from seed, the origin of which is situated in the same region of provenance.

> Seed Orchard:

A plantation of selected individuals where each one is identified by clone, family or provenance, which is isolated or managed to avoid or reduce pollination from outside sources, and managed to produce frequent, abundant and easily harvested crops of seed.

Other complementary definitions, which are not directly related to the OECD Certification of Forest Reproductive Material, but provide important background information for the implementation of the Scheme, are included in Appendix XI.

The Designated Authority will decide whether the term "autochthonous" or the term "indigenous" will be used in its country. The choice must be conveyed to the Secretariat of the OECD and to all participating countries.

Parents of Family(ies):

Trees used to obtain progeny by controlled or open pollination of one identified parent used as a female, with the pollen of one parent (full-sibling) or a number of identified or unidentified parents (half-sibling).

> Clone:

Group of individuals (ramets) derived originally from a single individual (ortet) by vegetative propagation (e.g. by cuttings, micropropagation, grafts, layers, etc).

> Clonal Mixture:

A mixture of initially identified clones in defined proportions.

Origin

Seed source and stand

For an autochthonous seed source or stand, the origin is the place in which the trees are growing. For a non-autochthonous seed source or stand, the origin is the place from which the seed or plants were originally introduced. The origin of a seed source or stand may be unknown.

Seed orchard

For a seed orchard, the origins are the places where its components were originally located, such as their provenances or other relevant geographical information, respectively. The origin of a seed orchard may be unknown.

Parents of families

For the parents of families, the origins are the places where their components were originally located, such as their provenances or other relevant geographical information, respectively. The origin of the parents of families may be unknown.

Clone and clonal mixtures

For a clone, the origin is the place where the ortet is or was initially located or selected.

For a clonal mixture, the origins are the places where the ortets are or were initially located or selected.

Provenance

The place in which any seed source or stand of trees is growing.

Region of Provenance

For a species or sub-species, the Region of Provenance is the area or group of areas subject to sufficiently uniform ecological conditions in which stands or seed sources showing similar phenotypic or genetic characters are found.

Location of basic material

Location of basic material is the place or places where the basic material is maintained.

Place of Production of Clones or clonal mixtures or parents of families

Place or exact geographical position where the reproductive material was produced e.g. stool bed or laboratory or greenhouse or nursery

Foundation Stock

Foundation stock is a plant, group of plants, propagating material [reproductive material], DNA stock or genetic information of the clone (or clones in case of clonal mixture) and thus serve as a reference material for the control of clonal identity.

Designated Authority

An Authority designated by and responsible to the Government of a country participating in the Scheme for the purpose of implementing these Rules on its behalf.

Professional operator

'Professional operator' means any person, governed by public or private law, involved professionally in, and legally responsible for, one or more of the following activities concerning forest reproductive material (FRM):

- (a) production including growing, multiplying and maintaining
- (b) storage, collection, dispatching and processing;
- (c) Making available on the market;
- (d) Moving FRM in international trade

The professional operator has to be registered with the National Designated Authority.

RULES OF THE SCHEME

GENERAL

The Scheme will cover all seeds, parts of plants and plants which have been collected, transported and processed, stored, raised, sampled, labelled and sealed in accordance with the rules that follow. The said rules constitute the minimum requirements. The Scheme will be implemented in the participating country by the Designated Authority. More detailed rules for delineating Regions of Provenance and the approval of basic material which a participating country may stipulate will be made available by the Designated Authority in an official publication (see Rules 2, 3 and 4).

Rule 1. CATEGORIES OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL

The four categories recognised in the Scheme under which reproductive material can be certified are the following:

1.1 Source-identified

The six requirements for certification under this category are:

- (a) the Region of Provenance where the reproductive material is collected will be delineated by the Designated Authority in the manner described in Rule 2;
- (b) it must be stated whether the basic material is autochthonous/indigenous, non-autochthonous/ non-indigenous or the origin is unknown and for non-autochthonous/non-indigenous basic material the origin must be stated if known;
- (c) the basic material will not have been derived from, or subjected to, plant breeding techniques;
- (d) the basic material will be sufficiently isolated (by approval of the Designated Authority) from trees which would potentially dilute or compromise the genetic composition of the reproductive material. In particular, basic material in proximity to trees/stands of non-autochthonous/non-indigenous origin, unknown origin, or derived from plant breeding techniques should not be approved;
- (e) the reproductive material will be derived from basic material as defined in Rule 3.2(a), conforming to the requirements given in Appendix I, and registered by the Designated Authority according to Rule 4;
- (f) the reproductive material will be produced under the control of the Designated Authority according to Rule 5.

1.2 Selected

The six requirements for certification under this category are:

(a) the Region of Provenance where the reproductive material is collected will be delineated by the Designated Authority in the manner described in Rule 2;

- (b) it must be stated whether the basic material is autochthonous/indigenous, non-autochthonous/ non-indigenous or the origin is unknown and for non-autochthonous/non-indigenous basic material the origin must be stated if known;
- (c) the basic material will not have been derived from, or subjected to, plant breeding techniques;
- (d) the basic material will be sufficiently isolated (by approval of the Designated Authority) from trees which would potentially dilute or compromise the genetic composition of the reproductive material. In particular, basic material in proximity to trees/stands of non-autochthonous/non-indigenous origin, unknown origin, or derived from plant breeding techniques should not be approved;
- (e) the reproductive material will be derived from basic material approved according to Rule 3.1 and defined in Rule 3.2(b), conforming to the requirements given in Appendix II, and registered by the Designated Authority according to Rule 4;
- (f) the reproductive material will be produced under the control of the Designated Authority according to Rule 5.

1.3 Qualified

The three requirements for certification under this category are:

- (a) the basic material will be sufficiently isolated (by approval of the Designated Authority) from trees which would potentially dilute or compromise the genetic composition of the reproductive material. In particular, basic material in proximity to trees/stands of non-autochthonous/non-indigenous origin or unknown origin should not be approved;
- (b) the reproductive material will be derived from basic material approved according to Rules 3.1 and 3.2(c), conforming to the requirements given in Appendix III, and registered by the Designated Authority according to Rule 4;
- (c) the reproductive material will be produced under the control of the Designated Authority according to Rule 5.

1.4 Tested

The three requirements for certification under this category are:

- (a) the basic material will be sufficiently isolated (by approval of the Designated Authority) from trees which would potentially dilute or compromise the genetic composition of the reproductive material. In particular, basic material in proximity to trees/stands of non-autochthonous/non-indigenous origin or unknown origin should not be approved;
- (b) the reproductive material will be derived from basic material approved according to Rules 3.1 and 3.2(d), conforming to the requirements given in Appendix IV, and registered by the Designated Authority according to Rule 4; the genetic superiority of the reproductive material must have been estimated from a genetic evaluation of components of the basic material (Appendix IV-2) or proved by comparative tests (Appendix IV-3);

(c) the reproductive material will be produced under the control of the Designated Authority according to Rule 5.

Rule 2. DELINEATION OF REGIONS OF PROVENANCE

- 2.1 Establishing Regions of Provenance is an important tool in the implementation of the Scheme. The Designated Authority shall delineate Region(s) of Provenance for species whose reproductive material is certified under the "Source-identified" or "Selected" category. The region of provenance is given only when relevant in certifying reproductive material as "Qualified" or "Tested".
- 2.2 Regions of Provenance will be delineated by means of administrative and geographic boundaries and, where applicable, by altitudinal and other appropriate boundaries judged to be significant in the country concerned.
- 2.3 Maps showing the boundaries of the Regions of Provenance together with their reference numbers or letters will be established and published.
- 2.4 Maps and detailed descriptions of each Region of Provenance must be submitted to the Secretariat of the OECD.

Rule 3. APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL

- 3.1 The unit of approval is the basic material. Each unit comprises a single entry in the National Register (Rule 4). Prior to approval, the basic material (except for basic material intended for the production of reproductive material to be certified as *Source-identified*) will be inspected by the Designated Authority. When approved by the Designated Authority, it will be maintained under its supervision until the approval is withdrawn. The approval of basic material shall be withdrawn if the minimum requirements are no longer fulfilled. Re-inspections must be made at intervals decided by the Designated Authority.
- 3.2 Approved basic material produces reproductive material which can be certified under the four categories described in Rule 1. Requirements to be fulfilled in each category will be as follows:

(a) Source-identified

The basic material will be a seed source or stand located within a single Region of Provenance. Little or no phenotypic selection takes place; therefore formal inspection to control selection is not required. The seed source will have to meet the minimum requirements set out in Appendix I.

(b) Selected

The basic material will be a stand located within a single Region of Provenance and phenotypically selected in a way which satisfies the minimum requirements for basic material specified in Appendix II.

(c) Qualified

The basic material will be seed orchards, parents of family(ies), clones or clonal mixtures, the components of which have been phenotypically selected in a way which satisfies the minimum requirements for basic material specified in Appendix III-1, III-2, III-3 or III-4 as appropriate.

(d) Tested

The basic material will consist of stands, seed orchards, parents of family(ies), clones or clonal mixtures.

The basic material must also fulfil the minimum requirements specified in Appendix II or III as appropriate.

There are two ways in which basic material may qualify for approval in this category:

i) genetic evaluation

The components of the different types of basic material must have been evaluated as shown to satisfy the minimum requirements for basic material specified in Appendices IV-1 and IV-2 [or IV-5 if appropriate].

ii) comparative testing

Reproductive material derived from the basic material must have been shown to be superior to appropriate standards in one or more characters important to forestry in comparative tests conducted in specified environments and approved by the Designated Authority. Detailed requirements for such comparative tests are set out in Appendices IV-1 and IV-3 [or IV-5 if appropriate].

Seed orchards and parents of families established to produce a species hybrid must also fulfil the specific requirement in Appendices III-1.e and III-2.d.

Conditional approval can be granted if the requirements of Appendix IV-4 are fulfilled.

3.3 The following table relates types of basic material to categories in which reproductive material can be certified:

			REPRODUCTIVE M	
TYPE OF BASIC MATERIAL	SOURCE IDENTIFIED (Yellow)	SELECTED (Green)	QUALIFIED (Pink)	TESTED (Blue)
Seed Source	X		,	
Stand	X	X		X
Seed Orchard			X	X
Parents of Family(ies)			X	X
Clone			X	X
Clonal Mixture			X	X

3.4 The Designated Authority can approve subsequent multiplication by vegetative propagation of seed certified in the categories *Selected, Qualified* or *Tested*. In such a case the material produced will assume the same category as the original seed.

Rule 4. REGISTRATION OF APPROVED BASIC MATERIAL

4.1 National Register

The Designated Authority must establish and maintain a National Register in which each unit of approved basic material is recorded. The National Register will contain full details of each unit including management, site and administrative details. A map or plan must be made available on request.

4.2 Minimum Information in the Register

The National Register of Approved Basic Material will contain the following minimum information:

1) Identification: reference identity (numbers and/or letters) of the approved basic

material and its name (if applicable).

2) Botanical name: genus, species, subspecies and variety (as applicable).

3) Purpose(s): to be stated.

4) Category of reproductive material to be produced: Source-identified / Selected / Qualified /

Tested.

5) Type of basic material: Seed source / Stand / Seed Orchard / Parents of family(ies) / Clone /

Clonal mixture.

6) Location:

For basic material used to produce reproductive material to be certified as Source-identified:

a short title, and the Region of Provenance.

For basic material used to produce reproductive material to be certified as *Selected*:

a short title, the Region of Provenance and geographical position as defined by latitude and longitude or latitudinal and longitudinal range.

For basic material used to produce reproductive material to be certified as *Qualified or tested*:

a short title and the exact geographical position(s) where the basic

material is maintained.

In case of Clones, location and the exact geographical position(s)

where the foundation stock is maintained.

7) Altitude: the altitude or the altitudinal range.

8) Area: the size (in hectares) of a stand.

not applicable to basic material used to produce reproductive material

to be certified as Source-identified.

9) Origin:

For Seed Source and Stand:

it must be stated whether the basic material is autochthonous/indigenous, non-autochthonous/non-indigenous or the origin is unknown. For non-autochthonous/non-indigenous basic material, the origin must be stated if known.

For Seed Orchard:

Provenances or other relevant geographic information where its components were originally located must be stated if known.

For the seed orchards representing a more advanced stage of breeding, information from breeding records may be substituted for the information about origin and Region(s) of Provenance.

> For Parents of Family(ies)

Provenances or other relevant geographical information where their components were originally located must be stated if known.

For Parents of Family(ies) representing a more advanced stage of breeding, information from breeding records may substitute the information about origin and Region(s) of Provenance.

> For Clone and Clonal mixture

Relevant geographic information on the place(s) where the ortet(s) is or was initially located or selected

For Clones and Clonal mixtures representing a more advanced stage of breeding, information from parental components may substitute the information about origin.

In addition, for Seed Orchards:

- 10) Type of orchard (clonal, families or material from provenances).
- 11) Crossing design and type of field layout.
- 12) Number of components (clones, families or material from provenances).
- 13) Year(s) during which established.

In addition, for Clones or Clonal Mixtures or Parents of Family(ies):

[14) Place of production: address or exact geographic position where the reproductive material is produced (e.g. stool bed, laboratory, greenhouse, nursery).]

The inclusion of information on the production site of the clone or clonal mixture should be managed either in the National Register and/or described on the Certificate of Identity (Appendix VII).]

.

4.3 Summary List

- (a) Each Designated Authority must keep an updated Summary List of Basic Material eligible under the Scheme. For the categories "Source-identified" and "Selected" a summary list of basic material based on Region of Provenance is permitted.
- (b) The Summary List should be in English or French and will be available on request to the Secretariat of the OECD and to all participating countries.

Rule 5. PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL FOR ALL CATEGORIES

5.1 Minimum Requirements for the Production of Reproductive Material

Regulations governing the production of all reproductive material will be made available by the Designated Authority in an official publication. The minimum requirements for the certification of reproductive material are the following:

- (a) National Designated Authorities must, by an official control system set up or approved by them, ensure that reproductive material from individual units of approval or lots remains clearly identifiable through the entire process from collection to delivery to the end user. Official inspections of registered professional operator shall be carried out regularly.
- (b) Reproductive material can only be collected from approved basic material.
- (c) Reproductive material must be collected by the professional operator, or under its supervision, registered with the Designated Authority; likewise extraction, cleaning, packaging and storage of seed must be made by the professional operator registered with the Designated Authority.
- (d) Sowing of seed, transplanting of seedlings, collection of parts of plants and all vegetative propagation operations must be done by, or supervised by, a professional operator.
- (e) Records must be kept in such form that it is possible to identify and verify the authenticity of FRM during collection, processing, raising and storage of all reproductive material and these records must be available for inspection.

5.2 Separation of Lots

Except under circumstances outlined in 5.3 below, all reproductive material must, during collection, transport, processing, storage, marketing and raising be kept in lots separated by:

- (a) Unit of approval as identified in the National Register;
- (b) Year of ripening of seed or of collection of parts of plants;
- (c) Length of time in the nursery as seedlings, rooted cuttings, grafts, or transplants.

5.3 Mixing of Lots

Only the following exceptions will be permitted for mixing of lots, if all other requirements for the production of reproductive material according to Rule 5.1 and for the separation of lots according to Rule 5.2 are met. The rules are not applicable for vegetatively reproduced plant materials [(parts of plants)].

- (a) In categories Source-identified and Selected the mixing will be permitted from two or more units of approval and is restricted to mixing material from within a single Region of Provenance. If mixing of reproductive material from seed sources and stands in the category Source-identified takes place, the reproductive material of the new combined lot will be certified as derived from a seed source.
- (b) Mixing of lots may be permitted for reproductive material derived from non-autochthonous/ non-indigenous basic material with that from unknown origin, and the reproductive material of the new combined lot will be certified as of unknown origin.
- (c) In categories *Qualified* and *Tested* the mixing is only permitted for a <u>single unit of approval</u> and is restricted to reproductive materials derived only from stands, seed orchards and parents of families.
- (d) Mixing of reproductive material based on seed lots from different years of ripening will only be permitted in agreement with the Designated Authority.
- (e) When mixing takes place in accordance with subparagraph (d) that the actual years of ripening, certificate references of the original lots and percentage of material from each year shall be recorded by the Designated Authority.
- (f) When mixing takes place and any of the component lots was divided before mixing the divided lots must be controlled and certified by the Designated Authority.

Rule 6. INSPECTION, SEALING AND LABELLING OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL

6.1 Inspection

All categories of reproductive material must be controlled by or under the supervision of the Designated Authority, at least by random checking during collection, transport, processing, storage, raising, labelling, sealing and mixing.

6.2 Sealing and Labelling

All lots of forest reproductive material will be accompanied by a label, or labels as indicated below.

- (a) Seed will be marketed in packages which will be sealed by the professional operator in such a way that they cannot be opened without destroying the sealing or leaving traces showing that it has been posible to alter or change the content of the packages. A label bearing the information in Appendix VIII will be fixed on the package. A sealing device which cannot be re-attached after removal will be used. A duplicate of the label will also be placed inside the package.
- (b) Each consignment of plants and parts of plants will be labelled in such a way as to preserve the identity of the consignment.
- (c) The labels will be issued by the Designated Authority in English or French and will conform to the specifications given in Appendix VIII. Certificate numbers to be used on the labels are given in Appendix IX. A draft of these labels must be submitted by the Designated Authority to the Secretariat of the OECD for prior approval.
- (d) When re-labelling and re-sealing take place, the new labels will reproduce all the information given on the original labels except the name of the Designated Authority in the country of origin. They must also indicate that re-labelling has taken place.

- (e) When mixing takes place (see Rule 5.3) the mixed seed or plant lot must be labelled or sealed and labelled and the new labels will be referenced to new certificate of provenance (Appendix V.) or certificate of identity (Appendix VI.) issued for the mixed lot.
- (f) The new labels will be referenced to new Certificate of Provenance or Identity issued for the mixed lot.

6.3 Certificates

For all lots of forest reproductive material, one of the following certificates will be issued:

- -- a certificate of provenance for reproductive material derived from seed sources or stands (See Appendix V)
- -- a certificate of identity for reproductive material derived from seed orchards or parents of family(ies) (see Appendix VI)
- -- a certificate of identity for reproductive material derived from clones or clonal mixtures (see Appendix VII)
- (a) Each certificate will be given a certificate number.
- (b) The certificate will be issued by the Designated Authority in English or French and will conform to the specifications given in Appendix V, VI or VII. A draft specimen of any certificate printed nationally must be submitted to the Secretariat of the OECD for prior approval.
- (c) When mixing of lots has taken place (see Rule 5.3), this must be recorded on the certificate of provenance. The reference identities in the National Register of the basic material used in a mixture may be recorded on the certificate.
- (d) When mixing takes place (see Rule 5.3) in category Source-identified and Selected, the reference code of the region of provenance may be substituted by the register reference of the unit of approval.
- (e) If a single lot of reproductive material is divided outside the country of production, new certificates will be issued by the Designated Authority in the country in which the division has taken place. These certificates will reproduce all the information given on the original certificate and also a statement that the lot has been divided.
- (f) When mixing takes place in accordance with subparagraph (Rule 5.3 d) that the certificate references of the original lots and percentage of material from each year shall be recorded and given in the other relevant information field of the OECD certificate. Years of ripening should be specified in the relevant fields.

Rule 7. METHOD OF OPERATION OF THE SCHEME

7.1 Designated Authority

(a) The government of each country participating in the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme will designate the Authority to implement the Scheme in that country.

(b) The name and address of the Designated Authority and any changes in its designation will be circulated by the Secretariat of the OECD to all countries participating in the Scheme.

7.2 Review and Co-ordination

- (a) The operation and progress of the Scheme will be reviewed as necessary at meetings of representatives of the Designated Authorities. These meetings will report on the working of the Scheme and make such proposals as are deemed necessary to the Committee for Agriculture of the OECD.
- (b) The necessary co-ordination of the operation of the Scheme at the international level will be ensured by the Secretariat of the OECD.

7.3 Responsibility

When forest reproductive material is packed, sealed and labelled under one of the categories defined in these Rules, it is understood that all controls have been made in strict accordance with the Rules.

APPENDIX I. MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL INTENDED FOR THE PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL TO BE CERTIFIED AS SOURCE- IDENTIFIED

1. **Origin.**

It must be determined either by historical investigation or other appropriate means whether the population is autochthonous/indigenous, non-autochthonous/non-indigenous or the origin is unknown. For non-autochthonous/non-indigenous basic material, the origin must be stated if known.

2. Effective Size of the Population.

To maintain genetic diversity and ensure adequate inter-pollination, populations must consist of one or more groups of trees well distributed and sufficiently numerous.

3. Adaptation and resistance.

Adaptation to the ecological conditions prevailing in the Region of Provenance must be evident. The trees must in general be free from attacks by damaging organisms and show resistance to the adverse climatic and site conditions in the place where they are growing.

Note: The seed source or stand shall meet criteria set by the Designated Authority.

APPENDIX II.

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL INTENDED FOR THE PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL TO BE CERTIFIED AS SELECTED

1. **Origin**

It must be determined either by historical investigation or other appropriate means whether the stand is autochthonous/indigenous, non-autochthonous/non-indigenous or the origin is unknown. For non-autochthonous/non-indigenous basic material, the origin must be stated if known.

2. **Isolation**

Stands will be situated at a sufficient distance from poor stands of the same species or from stands of a related species or variety which can form hybrids with the species in question. In particular, the stands surrounding autochthonous/indigenous stands that are themselves non-autochthonous/non-indigenous or of unknown origin should not be approved. See also Rule 1.2(d).

3. Effective Size of the Population

To maintain genetic diversity and ensure adequate inter-pollination, stands must consist of one or more groups of trees well distributed and sufficiently numerous.

4. **Age and Development**

Stands will consist of trees of such an age, height or stage of development that the criteria given for the selection can be clearly judged.

5. Uniformity

Stands must show a normal degree of individual variation in morphological characters. When necessary, inferior trees should be removed.

6. Adaptation and resistance

Adaptation to the ecological conditions prevailing in the Region of Provenance must be evident. The trees must in general be free from attacks by damaging organisms, and show resistance to the adverse climatic and site conditions in the place where they are growing.

7. **Volume production**

Volume production of wood is an important criterion for the approval of selected stands. It must normally be superior to the accepted mean under similar ecological conditions.

8. Wood Quality

The quality of the wood should be taken into account and, in some cases, may become an essential criterion.

9. Form or Growth Habit

Trees in stands must show particularly good morphological features, especially straightness and circularity of stem, favourable branching habit, small size of branches and good natural pruning. In addition, the proportion of forked trees and those showing spiral grain should be low.

10. Specific purposes

The stand will be judged with respect to the stated purpose to which the reproductive material will be put and less emphasis may be placed on some of the above criteria. The criteria for selection will be agreed with the Designated Authority and will be made available on request.

APPENDIX III. MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL INTENDED FOR THE PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL TO BE CERTIFIED AS QUALIFIED

1. Seed Orchards

- (a) The type, objective, crossing design and field layout, components, isolation and location and any changes of these must be approved and registered with the Designated Authority.
- (b) The component clones, families or materials from provenances will be selected for their desired characters and special consideration will be given to the requirements 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and where appropriate, 10 of Appendix II.
- (c) The component clones, families or materials from provenances will be planted according to a plan which has been approved by the Designated Authority and established in such a way that each component can be identified.
- (d) When changes in genetic components occur, they will be described and registered by the National Designated Authority, and also authorised for their intended uses, if national legislation so requires.
- (e) The seed orchards will be managed and seed harvested in such a way that the objectives of the orchards are attained. In the case of a seed orchard intended for the production of hybrids, the percentage of hybrids in the reproductive material must be determined by a verification test.

2. Parents of Family(ies)

- (a) The parents shall be selected for their outstanding characters and special consideration will be given to the requirements 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of Appendix II, or selected for their combining ability.
- (b) The objective, crossing design and pollination system, components, isolation and location and any significant changes of these must be approved and registered with the Designated Authority.
- (c) The identity, number and proportion of the parents in a mixture must be approved and registered with the Designated Authority.
- (d) In the case of parents intended for the production of an artificial hybrid, the percentage of hybrids in the reproductive material must be determined by a verification test.

3. Clones

- (a) Clones shall be identifiable by distinctive characters which have been approved and registered with the Designated Authority.
- (b) The value of individual clones shall be established by experience or have been demonstrated by sufficiently prolonged experimentation.
- (c) Ortets used for the production of clones shall be selected for their outstanding characters and special consideration should be given to the requirements 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of Appendix II.
- (d) Approval shall be restricted to a maximum number of years or a maximum number of ramets produced, if appropriate.
- (e) A foundation stock of the clone must be approved and registered with the Designated Authority.

4. Clonal Mixtures

- (a) Clonal mixtures shall meet the requirements for clones determined in point 3.
- (b) The identity, number and proportion of the component clones of a mixture, and the selection method and foundation stock must be approved and registered with the Designated Authority. Each mixture must contain sufficient genetic diversity as approved by the Designated Authority.

APPENDIX IV.

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APPROVAL OF BASIC MATERIAL INTENDED FOR THE PRODUCTION OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL TO BE CERTIFIED AS 'TESTED'

1. REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL TESTS

(a) General

The basic material must satisfy the appropriate requirements in Appendix II or III. Tests set up for the approval of basic material are to be prepared, laid out, conducted and their results interpreted in accordance with internationally recognised procedures. For comparative tests, the reproductive material under test must be compared with one or preferably several approved or pre-chosen standards.

(b) Characters to be examined

- (i) Tests must be designed to assess specified characters which must be indicated for each test.
- (ii) Weight shall be given to adaptation, growth, biotic and abiotic factors of importance. In addition, other characters, considered important in view of the intended specific purpose, shall be evaluated in relation to the ecological conditions of the region in which the test is carried out.

(c) <u>Documentation</u>

Records must describe the test sites, including location, climate, soil, past use, establishment, management and any damage due to abiotic/biotic factors, and be available to the Designated Authority. Age of the material and results at the time of the evaluation must be recorded with the Designated Authority.

(d) Setting up the tests

- (i) Each sample of reproductive material shall be raised, planted and managed in an identical way as far as the types of plant material permit.
- (ii) Each experiment must be established in a valid statistical design with a sufficient number of trees in order that the individual characteristics of each component under examination can be evaluated.

(e) <u>Analysis and validity of results</u>

- (i) The data from experiments must be analysed using internationally recognised statistical methods and the results presented for each character examined.
- (ii) The methodology used for the test and the detailed results obtained shall be made freely available.
- (iii) A statement of the suggested region of probable adaptation within the country in which the test was carried out and characteristics which might limit its usefulness must also be given.

- (iv) If during testing it is proven that the reproductive material does not possess, at the least, the characteristics of:
 - the basic material or
 - similar resistance of the basic material to harmful organisms of economic importance,

then such reproductive material shall not be approved as tested.

2. REQUIREMENTS FOR GENETIC EVALUATION OF COMPONENTS OF BASIC MATERIAL

(a) The components of the following basic material may be genetically evaluated: seed orchards, parents of family(ies), clones and clonal mixtures.

(b) Documentation

The following additional documentation is required for approval of the basic material:

- (i) the identity, origin and pedigree of the evaluated components;
- (ii) the crossing design used to produce the reproductive material used in the evaluation tests.

(c) <u>Test procedures</u>

The following requirements must be met:

- (i) the genetic value of each component must be estimated in two or more evaluation testsites, at least one of which must be in an environment relevant to where the reproductive material will be recommended;
- (ii) The test period should be of sufficient duration for the tested characteristics to be expressed.
- (iii) the estimated superiority of the reproductive material to be marketed shall be calculated on the basis of these genetic values and the specific crossing design;
- (iv) evaluation tests and genetic calculations must be approved by the Designated Authority.

(d) Interpretation

- (i) The estimated superiority of the reproductive material shall be calculated against a reference population for a character or set of characters.
- (ii) It shall be stated whether the estimated genetic value of the reproductive material is inferior to the reference population for any important character.

3. REQUIREMENTS FOR COMPARATIVE TESTING OF REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL

(a) Sampling of the reproductive material

- (i) The sample of the reproductive material for comparative testing must be truly representative of the reproductive material derived from the basic material to be approved.
- (ii) Sexually produced reproductive material for comparative testing shall be:

- harvested in years of good flowering and good fruit/seed production; artificial pollination may be utilised;
- harvested by methods that ensure that the samples obtained are representative.

(b) <u>Standards</u>

- (i) The performance of standards used for comparative purposes in the tests should, if possible, have been known over a sufficiently long period in the region in which the test is to be carried out. The standards represent, in principle, material that has been shown to be useful at the time that the test starts, and in ecological conditions for which it is proposed to certify the material. They should come as far as possible from stands selected according to the criteria in Appendix II or from basic material officially approved for production of tested material.
- (ii) For comparative testing of artificial hybrids, both parent species must, if possible, be included among the standards.
- (iii) Whenever possible several standards are to be used. When necessary and justified, standards may be replaced by the most suitable of the material under test or the mean of the components of the test.
- (iv) The same standards will be used in all tests over as wide a range of site conditions as possible.

(c) <u>Interpretation</u>

- (i) A statistically significant superiority as compared with the standards must be demonstrated for at least one important character.
- (ii) It will be clearly reported if there are any characters of economic or environmental importance which show significantly inferior results to the standards and their effects must be compensated for by favourable characters.

4. CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Preliminary assessment of young trials may be the basis for conditional approval. Claims of superiority based on an early assessment must be re-examined at a maximum interval of ten years.

5. EARLY TESTS

Nursery, greenhouse and laboratory tests may be accepted by the Designated Authority for conditional approval or for final approval if it can be shown that there is a close correlation between the measured trait and the characters which would normally be assessed in forest stage tests. Other characters to be tested must meet the requirements set out in paragraph 3.

APPENDIX V. SPECIMEN CERTIFICATE OF PROVENANCE FOR REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL DERIVED FROM SEED SOURCES OR FROM STANDS

Issued in accordance with the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme

-	ertificate must contain all the information outlined below, but the exact arrangement of the text is at the cretion of the Designated Authority]
(Co	ountry)
	certified that the forest reproductive material described below has been produced in accordance with the CD Scheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material Moving in International Trade.
1.	i. Botanical name:ii. Common name:
2.	Nature of reproductive material: Seeds*/Parts of plants*/ Plants*
3.	Category of reproductive material: Source-identified*/ Selected*/Tested*
4.	Purpose(s): list all covered purposes
5.	Type of basic material: Seed source*/ Stand*
6.	Reference identity of basic material in National Register:/ Mixture*
7.	Autochthonous/indigenous */ Non-autochthonous/ non-indigenous * / Unknown*
8.	Origin of basic material (for non-autochthonous/non-indigenous material, if known):
9.	Country and Region of Provenance of basic material:
	Location coordinates:
	Provenance (short title)**:
10.	Number of harvested trees (best estimate):
11.	Quantity:
12.	Is the material covered by this certificate the result of subdivision of a larger lot covered by a previous OECD certificate? Yes*/ No*
	Previous certificate number:
	Total quantity of seed*/ part of plants*/ plant* in the initial lot:

13. Length of time in nursery**:
14. Year(s) in which seed ripened:
15. Altitude of site of basic material:
In the case of subsequent vegetative propagation of material derived from seed:
16. Method of propagation:
17. Number of cycles of propagation:
18. Number and nature of packages**:
19. Other relevant information**:
Place: (Stamp of Designated Authority)
20. Name and address of the professional operator:21. Name and address of the National Designated Authority:22. Name of responsible officer:
Date: Signature: Rank:
* Delete the words that do not apply or highlight words which do apply. For computer generated certificates, it is only necessary to print those items and words which apply to the reproductive material being certified.
** Optional

APPENDIX VI. SPECIMEN CERTIFICATE OF IDENTITY FOR REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL DERIVED FROM SEED ORCHARDS OR PARENTS OF FAMILY(IES)

Issued in accordance with the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme

	cate must contain all the information outlined below, but the exact arrangement of the text is at the n of the Designated Authority]
(Country	
	fied that the forest reproductive material described below has been produced in accordance with the cheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material moving in International Trade.
1.	i. Botanical name:ii. Common name:iii. Name of hybrid*:
2.	Nature of reproductive material: Seeds* / Plants
3.	Category of reproductive material: Qualified / Tested
4.	Stated purpose: (to be specified)
5.	Type of basic material: Seed orchard / Parents of Family(ies)
6.	Reference identity of basic material in National Register:
Informa	tion related to the origin and maintenance of the basic material
7.	Origin of basic material (, if relevant):
8.	Country and Region of Provenance or location of basic material: Provenance (short title)**:
9.	Quantity:
10.	Is the material covered by this certificate the result of subdivision of a larger lot covered by a previous OECD certificate? Yes*/ No*
	Previous certificate number: Total quantity of seeds* / parts of plants* / plants* in the initial lot:

- 11. Length of time in nursery*:
- 12. Seed derived from: Open pollination* / Supplemental pollination* / Controlled pollination*
- 13. Year(s) in which seed ripened:
- 14. Location and altitude of site of basic material:
- 15. Number of components represented (material from provenances* /families * /clones*):
- 16. Percentage of hybrids(if appropriate)

For reproductive material derived from parents of family(ies):

- 17. Crossing design:
- 18. Range of percentage composition of component families:

In case of subsequent vegetative propagation of material derived from seed:

- 19. Method of propagation:
- 20. Number of cycles of propagation:

Optional:

- 21. Number and nature of packages:
- 22. Other relevant information:

Place: (Stamp of Designated Authority)

- 23. Name and address of the professional operator:
- 24. Name and address of the National Designated Authority:
- 25. Name of responsible officer:

Date:

Signature:

Rank:

For computer generated certificates, it is only necessary to print those items and words which apply to the reproductive material being certified.

^{*} Delete the words that do not apply or highlight words which do apply.

^{**} Optional

APPENDIX VII. SPECIMEN CERTIFICATE OF IDENTITY FOR REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL DERIVED FROM CLONES OR CLONAL MIXTURES

Issued in accordance with the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme

	cate must contain all the information outlined below, but the exact arrangement of the text is at the n of the Designated Authority]
(Country	
	ified that the forest reproductive material described below has been produced in accordance with the cheme for the Certification of Forest Reproductive Material moving in International Trade.
1.	i. Botanical name:ii. Common name:iii. Name of clone*, clonal mixture* :
2.	Nature of reproductive material: Part of plants:*:/ Plants*
3.	Category of reproductive material: Qualified* / Tested*
4.	Stated purpose: (to be specified)
5.	Type of basic material: Clone* / Clonal mixture*
6.	Reference identity of basic material in National Register:
Informa	tion related to the origin and maintenance of the basic material
7.	Origin(s) of basic material: Known / Unknown*
Further i	nformation on the origin of the basic material (e.g. original location or selection site):
8.	Country and/or Location where the basic material is maintained (e.g. laboratory or stool bed or clona collection)
Informa	tion related to the production of forest reproductive material
9.	Place of production of the reproductive material:
10.	Quantity:

	Previous certificate number:
	Total quantity of parts of plants*/ plants* in the initial lot:
12.	Method of propagation:
13.	Length of time in nursery:
For clor	nal mixtures:
14.	Number of clones in mixture:
15.	Range of percentage composition of component clones:
Optiona	1:
16.	Number and nature of packages:
17.	Other relevant information:
Place: (Stamp of Designated Authority)
19. Nan	ne and address of the professional operator: ne and address of the National Designated Authority: ne of responsible officer:
Date: Signatur Rank:	re:
	the words that do not apply or highlight words which do apply. ificates produced by computer processing, it is only necessary to print those items and words which

Is the material covered by this certificate the result of subdivision of a larger lot covered by a previous OECD certificate? Yes* / No*

11.

apply to the reproductive material being certified.

APPENDIX VIII. SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE OECD LABEL

1. Shape

The label will be of a length/width ratio of 1.4: 1 ('A' series format) with square corners.

2. Colour

(a) The use of coloured labels is optional but, if colour coding with respect to category of reproductive material is used, the colour of the label which accompanies the material will be:

> category Source-identified YELLOW

> category Selected GREEN

category Qualified PINK

> category *Tested* BLUE

(b) If coloured labels are not used, the name of the colour corresponding to the category must be printed on the labels. Overprinting/overstamping of uncoloured labels with the colour name (e.g. 'GREEN') may be used.

3. Name of the OECD Scheme

- (a) The name of the OECD Scheme will be printed on each side of the label. This name will be on one side "OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme" and on the other side "Système de l'OCDE pour les semences et plants forestiers".
- (b) These words will be printed with a minimum height of lettering of 2 mm.
- (c) Single face labels may be used, provided that the name of the OECD Scheme as mentioned above is printed in both languages.

4. **Prescribed Information**

The following information will be printed:

- 1) Name and address of the Designated Authority
- 2) Botanical name
- 3) Purpose(s)
- 4) Category (Source-identified | Selected | Qualified | Tested)
- 5) Type of Basic Material (Seed source / Stand / Seed orchard / Parents of family(ies) / Clone / Clonal mixture)
- 6) Number of the Certificate of Provenance or Identity (Appendix IX)
- 7) Reference identity of basic material in National Register

- 8) Provenance, Region of Provenance or location (if relevant)
- 9) Origin of the basic material (if known)

5. Additional Information

Any space not occupied by the information in paragraph 4 may be left blank or used for such additional information as the Designated Authority wishes to give. Such information, however, must be in letters no larger than those used for the above statement except for label numbers. It will be strictly factual and relate only to the reproductive material certified according to the OECD Scheme (e.g. purity, 1000 seed weight, germination, where possible). No advertising may be used on the label.

6. Languages

All the information printed on the label will be given in either English or French except for the name of the Scheme as specified in paragraph 3 above. Translation into other languages may be added if thought desirable.

APPENDIX IX. CERTIFICATE NUMBERS FOR LOTS OF CERTIFIED REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL

- 1. In international trade, it is desirable that certificate numbers should be of uniform pattern so as to be easily identified.
- 2. Each lot of certified reproductive material should receive a single specific number that cannot be modified during the whole life of the seed lot and can never be attributed to another lot. In the case of mixing different seed lots, a new single specific number is attributed.
- The first three characters of the certificate number will indicate the Country of production or origin of the certified reproductive material, by using the ISO Three-Letter Country Code.
- 4. The remainder of the certificate number is composed of numbers and/or letters arranged at the discretion of the National Authority. It is suggested that all certificate numbers are composed with the same number of characters. Care must be taken that there is no confusion between certificate numbers issued for different seed lots in different years. It is suggested that the year of ripening should form a component of the certificate number by means of the last two digits of the calendar year, e.g. 07 for 2007 and so on. In the case of a mixed lot, according to rule 5.3(c), the first year of ripening should form the respective component.

KEY TO LETTER CODES FOR PARTICIPATING COUNTRIES AS OF SEPTEMBER 2019			
LISTED BY COUNTRY		LISTED BY CODE	
AUSTRIA	AUT	AUT	AUSTRIA
BELGIUM	BEL	BEL	BELGIUM
BULGARIA	BGR	BFA	BURKINA FASO
BURKINA FASO	BFA	BGR	BULGARIA
CANADA	CAN	CAN	CANADA
CROATIA	HRV	CHE	SWITZERLAND
DENMARK	DNK	DEU	GERMANY
FINLAND	FIN	DNK	DENMARK
FRANCE	FRA	ESP	SPAIN
GERMANY	DEU	FIN	FINLAND
HUNGARY	HUN	FRA	FRANCE
IRELAND	IRL	GBP	UNITED KINGDOM
ITALY	ITA	HUN	HUNGARY
KENYA	KEN	HRV	CROATIA
MADAGASCAR	MDG	IRL	IRELAND
NETHERLANDS	NLD	ITA	ITALY
NORWAY	NOR	KEN	KENYA
PORTUGAL	PRT	MDG	MADAGASCAR
ROMANIA	ROM	NLD	NETHERLANDS
RWANDA	RWA	NOR	NORWAY
SERBIA	SRB	PRT	PORTUGAL
SLOVAK REPUBLIC	SVK	ROM	ROMANIA
SLOVENIA	SVN	RWA	RWANDA
SPAIN	ESP	SRB	SERBIA
SWEDEN	SWE	SVK	SLOVAK REPUBLIC
SWITZERLAND	CHE	SVN	SLOVENIA
TURKEY	TUR	SWE	SWEDEN
UGANDA	UGA	TUR	TURKEY
UNITED KINGDOM	GBP	UGA	UGANDA
UNITED STATES	USA	USA	UNITED STATES

APPENDIX X. PROCEDURE FOR ADMITTING NON-OECD MEMBERS INTO THE OECD SCHEME FOR THE CERTIFICATION OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL MOVING IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

- 1. Non-Member countries of the OECD, which are Members of the United Nations, its Specialised Agencies or the World Trade Organisation, may submit a written application to the Secretary-General to participate in the Scheme. The application will provide detailed information regarding the certification of forest reproductive material in that country and will include in particular:
 - (a) a copy of the national scheme for the certification of forest reproductive material and of the rules for delineating regions of provenance and for the approval of basic material, if any, in that country;
 - (b) a description of methods used in defining Regions of Provenance and in the approval of basic material:
 - (c) lists of approved basic material for the production of reproductive material which are to be certified under the OECD Scheme;
 - (d) an indication of arrangements for the supply during future years of reproductive material included in these lists;
 - (e) indications as to the availability of qualified staff to control and certify reproductive material according to all OECD Scheme requirements;
 - (f) a statement of the number of years of experience that the applicant country has had in the practical application of a scheme for the certification of forest reproductive material, together with details of the reproductive material controlled over the stated period.
- 2. The OECD will arrange for a review of the application. A specialist in the OECD certification of forest reproductive material will accompany the Secretariat to the applicant country. They will:
 - (a) explain the technical and administrative implication of the Rules of the Scheme, as well as its organisation and co-ordination at the international level;
 - (b) ascertain that adequate technical and administrative facilities are available for the operation of the Scheme;
 - (c) consider the need for expert assistance from foreign countries during the initial period of the Scheme's operation.

The specialist will be chosen by the Secretariat in agreement with the Chairman of the Scheme. The financing of such a mission will be the responsibility of the applicant country.

- 3. The applicant country agrees to its representative(s) attending the OECD meetings of representatives of the Designated Authorities held in Paris (France) or elsewhere. When attending a meeting for the first time, the representative of the country concerned will plan to visit at least one, and preferably more, of the Designated Authorities for discussions and demonstrations of the actual work of the Scheme. The cost of the attendance at the meetings and of the visits will be borne by the applicant country. The applicant country agrees that its representative(s) attending the meetings will be persons directly responsible for the implementation of the Scheme in the country.
- 4. The applicant country agrees to the payment to OECD of an annual fee, the amount of which will be notified according to the established scale. The fee will be adjusted annually according to the change in the price index used in the OECD's budgetary procedures. Any default in the payment will initiate the arrears management procedure described in the Decision, section 10 "Annual contribution". This procedure might lead, in the third year of arrears, to a decision by the Council to exclude the country from participation in the Scheme.
- 5. Provided the OECD is satisfied with the results of the review specified in paragraph 2, and the applicant country has submitted, in writing, the undertakings set out in paragraphs 2, 3 and 4, the Committee for Agriculture of the OECD will be asked to recommend that the Council should approve the admission of the country in question.
- 6. Following approval by the Council, the Secretary-General of the OECD will notify the applicant country that the application has been approved. The Designated Authorities in all countries participating in the Scheme will also be informed of the acceptance of the country concerned.

APPENDIX X.A PROCEDURE FOR ADMITTING OECD MEMBERS INTO THE OECD SCHEME FOR THE CERTIFICATION OF FOREST REPRODUCTIVE MATERIAL MOVING IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE

- 1. A Member wishing to adhere to the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme would notify the Secretary-General in writing of its intention.
- 2. The Member shall provide the Secretariat a self-evaluation report containing information regarding the certification of forest reproductive material in that country, in line with paragraph 1 of Appendix X of this Decision.
- 2a. Where deemed necessary, the information provided for in accordance with paragraph 1 of Appendix X of this Decision may be evaluated by a specialist in the OECD certification of forest reproductive material chosen by the Secretariat in agreement with the Chairman of the Scheme upon reception of a new application.
- 3. The Annual Meeting would evaluate the request according to all relevant elements.
- 4. If the Annual Meeting is not ready to approve the adherence at its first examination, it may request additional information.
- 5. If not satisfied by the additional information provided by the candidate, the Annual Meeting may organise an evaluation mission to the candidate.
- 6. The Annual Meeting recommends to the Committee for Agriculture the adherence.
- 7. The recommendation of the Annual Meeting is transmitted to the Committee for Agriculture for endorsement. The adherence enters into force as of the date of the endorsement by the Committee for Agriculture.
- 8. The Secretary-General would notify the candidate of the approval of its adherence.

APPENDIX XI. COMPLEMENTARY DEFINITIONS RELATED TO THE OECD FOREST SEED AND PLANT SCHEME

These complementary definitions are not directly related to the OECD Certification of Forest Reproductive Material, but provide useful background information for the implementation of the OECD Forest Seed and Plant Scheme.

Forest

Reference: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), F. D. (2010). Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010, Terms and Definitions. Rome: http://www.fao.org/docrep/014/am665e/am665e00.pdf.

Land spanning more than 0.5 hectares with trees higher than 5 meters and a canopy cover of more than 10 percent, or trees able to reach these thresholds *in situ*. It does not include land that is predominantly under agricultural or urban land use.

Explanatory notes:

- 1. Forest is determined both by the presence of trees and the absence of other predominant land uses. The trees should be able to reach a minimum height of 5 meters in situ.
- 2. Includes areas with young trees that have not yet reached but which are expected to reach a canopy cover of 10 percent and tree height of 5 meters. It also includes areas that are temporarily unstocked due to clear-cutting as part of a forest management practice or natural disasters, and which are expected to be regenerated within 5 years. Local conditions may, in exceptional cases, justify that a longer time frame is used.
- 3. Includes forest roads, firebreaks and other small open areas; forest in national parks, nature reserves and other protected areas such as those of specific environmental, scientific, historical, cultural or spiritual interest.
- 4. Includes windbreaks, shelterbelts and corridors of trees with an area of more than 0.5 hectares and width of more than 20 meters.
- 5. Includes abandoned shifting cultivation land with a regeneration of trees that have, or is expected to reach, a canopy cover of 10 percent and tree height of 5 meters.
- 6. Includes areas with mangroves in tidal zones, regardless whether this area is classified as land area or not.
- 7. Includes rubber-wood, cork oak and Christmas tree plantations.
- 8. Includes areas with bamboo and palms provided that land use, height and canopy cover criteria are met.
- 9. Excludes tree stands in agricultural production systems, such as fruit tree plantations, oil palm plantations and agroforestry systems when crops are grown under tree cover. Note: Some agroforestry systems such as the "Taungya" system where crops are grown only during the first years of the forest rotation should be classified as forest.

Other wooded land:

Reference: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), F. D. (2010). Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010, Terms and Definitions. Rome: http://www.fao.org/docrep/014/am665e/am665e00.pdf.

Land not classified as Forest, spanning more than 0.5 hectares with trees higher than 5 meters and a canopy cover of 5-10 percent, or trees able to reach these thresholds *in situ*, or with a combined cover of shrubs, bushes and trees above 10 percent. It does not include land that is predominantly under agricultural or urban land use.

Explanatory notes:

- 1. The definition above has two options:
 - the canopy cover of trees is between 5 and 10 percent. Trees should be higher than 5 meters or able to reach 5 meters in situ.

or

- the canopy cover of trees is less than 5 percent but the combined cover of shrubs, bushes and trees is more than 10 percent. Includes areas of shrubs and bushes where no trees are present.
- 2. Includes areas with trees that will not reach a height of 5 meters in situ and with a canopy cover of 10 percent or more, e.g. some alpine tree vegetation types, arid zone mangroves, etc.
- 3. Includes areas with bamboo and palms provided that land use, height and canopy cover criteria are met

Notes of the Scheme to the FAO definitions of Forest and Other wooded lands

It is at the discretion of the designated authorities to decide and to inform the OECD Secretariat that "Other wooded land" may be partially or totally integrated in the national definition of forest.

Forests shall only be renewed by, natural regeneration or direct seeding or plantation of forest reproductive material. According to the policies of the national designated authorities, the same requirement may also apply to "Other wooded lands". The artificial regeneration of forests and other wooded land by means of forest reproductive material is a component of sustainable forest management.

Agroforestry:

Reference: World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF). (2013). Strategy 2013-2022: Transforming lives and landscapes with trees. Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre. ISBN: 978-92-9059-337-9.

Agroforestry is a recently coined term derived from agriculture and forestry. It describes, however, practices developed and employed by farmers over many centuries to cultivate trees on farmland in different combinations with crops and livestock. From the pure agricultural perspective, agroforestry is about recognising and promoting trees on farm; from the strict forestry perspective, it is about recognition and rights for the tree-based systems and livelihoods that farmers/agroforesters have created and can expand with appropriate support. Whilst agroforestry is an amalgam of agriculture and forestry, rather than treating these as separate land uses, institutions, policy domains and fields of science we integrate them in a landscape approach. Most importantly though apart from bio-geophysical perspectives, agroforestry is often an entry point to progress social, economic, farmer welfare, market, environmental stewardship and political goals.

Agroforestry can be basically defined as:

The inclusion of trees in farming systems and their management in rural landscapes to enhance productivity, profitability, diversity and ecosystem sustainability.

A broader interpretation of the practice is:

A dynamic, ecologically based, natural resource management system that, through integration of trees on farms and in the agricultural landscape, diversifies and sustains production and builds social institutions.

Short rotation plantation:

Short rotation plantations are made of fast growing forest species.

Multi-functionality of forests:

Reference: European Commission, Directorate-General Agriculture and Rural Development. (2007). The EU Forest Action Plan. Brussels: European Commission, ISBN 978-92-79-19509-2.

Forests serve many purposes. They provide a livelihood for millions of workers, entrepreneurs and forest owners, and contribute significantly to economic growth, jobs and prosperity, especially in rural areas. They are an important source of raw materials for forest-based industries, providing the wood, pulp, cork and fibres that supply a plethora of sectors: construction, carpentry and furniture-making, veneer and laminate manufacture, production of household and office paper and sanitary items, to name but a few. In some countries, forest-based industries are major employers within the manufacturing sector. They also provide energy, both directly and indirectly, and a host of non-wood forest products and services, including grazing and forage for domestic and semi-wild animals.

Forests are one of the key elements of our ecosystems. They fulfil important environmental functions, serving as a habitat for a multitude of plant and animal species, protecting water and soil. They also safeguard land, infrastructure and settlements from erosion and help prevent avalanches or landslides in mountainous regions as well as providing catchments and filtering for water supplies. Forests therefore fulfil many functions. Forest management has traditionally taken into account this multi-functionality.

Different functions of forests and forestry:

Economic:

- providing a source of income
- serving as a workplace
- providing renewable resources for local and household consumption
- providing raw materials for forest-based industries
- supplying materials for high quality wood products
- delivering a local and renewable source of energy

Environmental:

- providing an ecosystem rich in biodiversity
- mitigating the effects of climate change through carbon sequestration
- protecting water resources
- providing ecological stability and integrity in the landscape
- safeguarding against avalanches and landslides in mountainous regions
- preventing soil erosion and combating desertification
- purifying the air

Social:

- supplying recreational and leisure amenities, especially to city dwellers
- providing a healthy living environment
- protecting against natural disasters
- making rural areas attractive to live in
- safeguarding cultural, heritage and spiritual values

Reference: United Nations Organization (2011). Ministerial Declaration of the High Level Segment of Ninth Session of the United Nations Forum on Forests on the occasion of the launch of the International Year of Forests, 24 January - 4 February 2011 (Report - E/CN.18/2011/20 page 1), New York: United Nations

Forests are an integral part of the global environment and human well-being, providing multiple goods and services essential for people worldwide and crucial for sustainable development and the achievement of the internationally agreed development goals, including the Millennium Development Goals.

Sustainable forest management

Reference: Forest Europe. (1993). Resolution H1 General Guidelines for the Sustainable Management of Forests in Europe. Second Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe, 16-17 June 1993 (p. 1). Helsinki: Forest Europe.

Stewardship and use of forests lands in a way that maintains their biodiversity, productivity, regeneration capacity, vitality and their potential to fulfil, now and in the future, relevant ecological, economic and social functions, at local, national, and global levels, without causing damage to other ecosystems.

Forest restoration

Reference: International Union of Forest Research Organisations (IUFRO). (2005). Multilingual Pocket Glossary of Forest Terms and Definitions. Vienna: International Union of Forest Research Organisations,

Management applied in degraded forest areas which aims to assist the natural processes of forest recovery in a way that the species composition, stand culture, biodiversity, functions and processes of the restored forest will match, as closely, as feasible, those of the original forests.

Plant Breeder's Rights:

A Plant Breeder's Right is a form of intellectual property by which a plant breeder can obtain protection for their new plant variety.

More information about Plant Breeder's Rights is available on the official website of the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants: www.upov.int.

The definition of "variety" under the International Convention for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants is available at: http://www.upov.int/upovlex/en/conventions/1991/w up910 .html# 1

LIST OF NATIONAL DESIGNATED AUTHORITIES IN MEMBER COUNTRIES OF THE SCHEME

Austria

Federal Forest Office

Forest Reproductive Material Seckendorff-Gudent-Weg 8 A-1131 Vienna

Tel: + 43 1 87838 22 22 Fax: + 43 1 878 38 22 50 christian.wurzer@bfw.gv.at

Belgium - Flemish region

Vlaamse Overheid

Departement Landbouw en Visserij Afdeling Voorlichting, Doelgroepenbeleid en Kwaliteit Plant Dienst Kwaliteit Plant Ellips, 7e verdieping Koning Albert II laan 35, bus 40 B-1030 BRUSSEL

Tel: +32(0)2 552 74 56 Fax: +32(0)2 552 74 01

Ms Ann VAN ESSCHE

ann.vanessche@lv.vlaanderen.be

Ms Marleen SEVENANTS marleen.sevenants@lv.vlaanderen.be

Belgium - Walloon Region

Service Public de Wallonie

Agriculture, Ressources Naturelles et Environnement Département du développement, de la ruralité et des cours d'eau et du bien-être animal Direction de la Qualité et du bien-être animal Chaussée de Louvain, 14 B-5000 NAMUR

Fax: +32-(0)81-64 95 44

https://agriculture.wallonie.be/pepinieres-forestieres

Mr. Damien WINANDY (Head)

Tel.: +32-81-64 96 17

damien.winandy@spw.wallonie.be

Mrs. Hélène KLINKENBERG Tel.: +32-(0)81-64 95 98

helene.klinkenberg@spw.wallonie.be

Belgium - Capital Region

Bruxelles Environnement - BE

Division Patrimoine et Forêt-Nature Département Forêt Avenue du Port 86C/3000 B-1000 BRUXELLES

Mr. Frederik VAES Tel: +32 (0) 490666870 fvaes@leefmilieu.brussels

Bulgaria

Executive Forest Agency

Ministry of Agriculture 55 blvd Hristo Botev Sofia

Tel: +359885284447 Fax: +35929813736

belovarska@iag.bg belovarska@yahoo.com

Burkina Faso

Centre National de Semences Forestières - CNSF

01 BP 2682 Ouagadougou 01

Edith Marie Sylvie DABOUE Directrice Générale Centre National de Semences Forestières (CNSF)

Tel: (226) 63 26 35 67 Fax: (226) 50356110 edaboue@yahoo.fr cnsf@fasonet.bf www.cnsf.bf

Canada

Natural Resources Canada

Canadian Forestry Service - Atlantic Forestry Centre P. O. Box 4000 Fredericton NB E3B 5P7

1-506-452-3500 www.nrcan.gc.ca

Donnie McPhee, National Tree Seed Centre Coordinator

Donnie.McPhee@Canada.ca

Tel: 1-506-452-4162

Croatia

Croatian Forest Research Institute - CFI

Division of Genetics, Forest Tree Breeding and Seed Husbandry Cvjetno naselje 41 10450 Jastrebarsko

Tel: +385 1 62 73 000 Fax: +385 1 62 73 035 mladeni@sumins.hr

Ministry of Agriculture

Directorate for Forestry, Hunting and Wood Industry Sector for Forestry Planinska 2a 10 000 Zagreb

Phone: +385 1 6443 271 Fax: +385 1 6443 291 goran.videc@mps.hr

Denmark

Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries of Denmark

Danish Agricultural Agency Nyropsgade 30 DK-1780 København V

Tel: +45 33 95 80 00 meb@lbst.dk

planter&biosikkerhed@lbst.dk

https://lbst.dk/

Finland

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Natural Resources Department Forests and bioenergy unit Hallituskatu 3 A, HELSINKI P.O. Box 30, FIN-00023 GOVERNMENT FINLAND

Tel: +358 40 77 14 113 Fax: +358 9 1605 2487 sanna.paanukoski@mmm.fi

Finnish Food Authority

Plant Health Unit and Fertilizer Unit / Forest Reproductive Material P.O.BOX 200, 00027 FINNISH FOOD AUTHORITY

Tel: +358 29 520 4614, +358 40 542 2493

kari.leinonen@foodauthority.fi

www.foodauthority.fi

France

Ministère de l'agriculture et de l'alimentation

DGPE/SDFE - Sous-direction des filières forêt-bois, cheval et bioéconomie Bureau Gestion durable de la forêt et du bois 3, rue Barbet de Jouy F-75749 Paris 07 SP

Tel: +33 1 49 55 51 26

marc.fournier@agriculture.gouv.fr iris.le-ronce@agriculture.gouv.fr

https://agriculture.gouv.fr/graines-et-plants-forestiers

Germany

Johann Heinrich von Thünen Institute

Federal Research Institute for Rural Areas, Forestry and Fisheries Institute of Forest Genetics Sieker Landstr. 2 22927 Grosshansdorf Germany

Dr. Mirko LIESEBACH

Head of Provenance Research and Forest Tree Breeding

Tel: +49 4102 696156 Fax: +49 4102 696200 mirko.liesebach@thuenen.de

Hungary

National Food Chain Safety Office

Agricultural Genetic Resources Directorate Keleti Károly utca 24 1024 BUDAPEST HUNGARY

GYÖRGY MOLNÁR Head of Department Forestry Reproductive Material Department

Tel: +36-1-336 9115 Mobil: +36-30-311-4797 MolnarGyorgy@nebih.gov.hu http://www.nebih.gov.hu/

Ireland

Forest Service

Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine Agriculture House (3West) Kildare Street IRL-DUBLIN 2

Tel: +353 1 607 29 32 Fax: +353 1 607 25 45

gerard.cahalane@agriculture.gov.ie

Italy

Ministry of agricultural, food and forestry policies

General direction of forests DIFOR IV Office - Ecosystem services and biodiversity enhancement Via XX Settembre, 20 00187 ROMA

www.politicheagricole.it

segreteria.direzioneforeste@politicheagricole.it difor4@politicheagricole.it i.librandi@politicheagricole.it

Kenya

Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Service (KEPHIS)

P.O. Box 49592 – 00100

Nairobi

Prof. Theophilus Mutui, Managing Director

Tel: +254 20 661 8000 Cell: +254 709 891 000

Email: director@kephis.org

Madagascar

Silo National des Graines Forestières (SNGF)

B.P. 5091

101 ANTANANARIVO

Tel: +261 20 22 402 85/412 30 Fax: +261 20 22 412 41 silonagf@moov.mg

Netherlands

Naktuinbouw

Sotaweg 22

Postbus 40

NL-2370 AA ROELOFARENDSVEEN

Tel: +31 71 332 62 62 Fax: +31 71 332 63 63

Director/general issues: <u>J.v.ruiten@naktuinbouw.nl</u> Certification issues: <u>A.sonnemans@naktuinbouw.nl</u>

Norway

Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research

Pb 115, NO-1431 Aas Tel: +47 90760870

Mari.Mette.Tollefsrud@nibio.no

https://www.nibio.no/

Norwegian Forest Seed Center

c/o Øyvind Meland Edvardsen Box. 118, N-2301 Hamar Tel: +47 62519870 oyvind@skogfroverket.no

Portugal

Ministério do Ambiente e Ação Climática

Instituto da Conservação da Natureza e das Florestas, I.P.

Avenida da República, 16 P-1050-191 LISBOA

Tel: +351 213 507 900 Fax: +351 213 507 984

Mme Dina Ribeiro (Head of Unit) Divisão Fitossanidade Florestal <u>dina.ribeiro@icnf.pt</u> <u>www.icnf.pt</u>

Romania

"Marin Dracea" National Institute for Research and Development in Forestry

(INCDS "Marin Dracea")
Forest Genetics and Tree Breeding Department
Bd. Eroilor 128,
Voluntari, Judetul Ilfov
RO-077190
ROMANIA

genetica@icas.ro

Rwanda

Tree Seed Unit (Rwanda Tree Seed center)

Forestry Research Division Rwanda Forestry Authority Ministry of Environment P.O Box 46 Muhanga, Rwanda Blue House Plazza info@rfa.rw

Eric KAZUBWENGE cleverohit@gmail.com +250784111293

Lewis Mary Ndayisaba nlewismary@yahoo.fr +250788805436

Serbia

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Water Management

Ministry of AFWM - Directorate for Forest Omladinskih brigada 1 Novi Beograd

Tel: +381 11 311 0261 Fax: +381.11.2603.476 ljiljana.sovilj@minpolj.gov.rs www.upravazasume.gov.rs

Slovenia

Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Food

Forestry and Hunting Directorate Forestry Division Dunajska cesta 22 SI – 1000 Ljubljana

Ms Saša Rus

Phone: +386 1 478 90 06

sasa.rus@gov.si

Slovenian Forestry Institute

Department of Forest Physiology and Genetics Večna pot 2 SI - 1000 Ljubljana

Ms Hojka Kraigher, PhD

Phone: +386 1 200 78 20, +386 41 330 543

hojka.kraigher@gozdis.si

Ms Marjana Westergren, PhD

Phone: +386 1 200 78 54 marjana.westergren@gozdis.si

Mr Boris Rantaša

Phone: +386 51 63 15 23, +386 51 40 23 65

boris.rantasa@gozdis.si

Slovak Republic

Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development

Section of Forestry and Wood Processing

Dobrovičova, 12 SK-81266 BRATISLAVA

Tel: +421 2 592 66 529 Fax: +421 2 592 66 752

National Forest Centre

T. G. Masaryka str. 22 SK-960 92 Zvolen

Tel: +421 45 53 14 327 Fax:+421 45 53 21 883 roman.longauer@nlcsk.org

Spain

Directorate General of Biodiversity, Forest and Desertification Ministry for the ecological transition and the demographic challenge

Av. Gran Vía de San Francisco 4 - 6, 28005 MADRID (SPAIN)

Felipe Pérez Martín – Responsible for Forest Genetic Resources

Tel: +34 91 347 58 87 Fax: +34 91 347 58 76 fperez@mapa.es

Spanish Plant Variety Office

General Directorate of Productions and Agricultural markets MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND ENVIRONMENT

c/ Almagro 33, 5^a planta 28010 MADRID (SPAIN)

Ana Álvarez Linarejos Tel: +34 91 347 17 38 Fax: +34 91 347 67 03 aalinarejos@mapa.es MPAyOEVV@mapa.es

Sweden

Swedish Forest Agency / Skogsstyrelsen

Bryggaregatan 19-21 SE - 503 38 BORÅS SWEDEN

Tel: +46 36 35 93 83

claes.uggla@skogsstyrelsen.se

http://www.skogsstyrelsen.se

Switzerland

Federal Department of the Environment, Transport, Energy and Communications (DETEC)

Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN)
Forest Division
Federal Plant Protection Service
Monbijoustrasse 40
CH-3003 Bern

Andrea De Boni
Tel +41 58 485 04 83
Mobil +41 79 239 52 42
andrea.deboni@bafu.admin.ch
https://www.bafu.admin.ch/bafu/de/home/themen/wald.html

Turkey

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

General Directorate of Forestry

Forest Tree Seeds and Tree Breeding Research Institute Directorate Sogutozu. 06560. Ankara Turkey

Tel: +90.312.2481812 Fax: +90.312.212.3960 kubilayozyalcin@ogm.gov.tr

Uganda

Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry & Fisheries

National Seed Certification Services PO Box 102 Entebbe

Mr. Paul Mwambu, Commissioner Crop Inspection and Certification

Phone: +256 774 013 363 Mobile: +256 702 001 007 pmwambu3@gmail.com

United Kingdom

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

Ms Christina Bradley and Ms Helen Fasham Eastbrook, Shaftesbury Road Cambridge CB2 8DR fasham-bradley.jobshare@defra.gov.uk

Tel: +44 (0)2087204228 and +44 (0)2080262903

Web: www.defra.gov.uk

United States

USDA Forest Service

National Seed Laboratory 5675 Riggins Mill Road Dry Branch GA 31020

Mr. Victor Vankus Tel: 1 478-751-6656 Fax: 1 478-314-6682

Email: victor.vankus@usda.gov

Website: National Seed Laboratory - USDA Forest Service

Official State Certification Authorities - Authorized to issue OECD certificates through cooperative agreement with USDA Forest Service

Washington State Crop Improvement Association, Inc.

2575 NE Hopkins Ct. Pullman, Washington 99163 Office (509) 334-0461

Aaron Jeschke, Manager Phone (509) 334-0461

Email: aaron@washingtoncrop.com

Website: